## <u>No. 43557-8-II</u>

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

# **Todd Phelps**,

Appellant.

Lewis County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00790-6

The Honorable Judge Nelson E. Hunt

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

## **

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The trial court violated Mr. Phelps's First, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to an open and public trial.
- 2. The trial court violated Mr. Phelps's right to an open and public trial under Wash. Const. art. I, §10 and 22.
- 3. The trial court violated the constitutional requirement of an open and public trial by holding portions of jury selection outside the public's view.
- 4. The trial court violated the constitutional requirement of an open and public trial by holding additional proceedings in chambers.
- 5. The trial court violated Mr. Phelps's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to be present by holding a portion of jury selection in his absence.
- 6. Mr. Phelps's conviction as to count two violated his constitutional right to adequate notice of the charges against him under the Sixth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, §22.
- 7. Count two of the charging document omitted an essential element of second-degree sexual misconduct with a minor.
- 8. The Information was deficient as to count two because it failed to allege that Mr. Phelps had sexual contact with a student who was under 21 years of age.
- 9. Mr. Phelps's state constitutional right to a unanimous jury was violated as to count two when the state failed to elect a particular act to prove that he had sexual contact with A.A.
- 10. Mr. Phelps's state constitutional right to a unanimous jury was violated as to count two when the judge failed to give a unanimity instruction for that charge.
- 11. The prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct that violated Mr. Phelps's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

- 12. The prosecutor improperly expressed a personal opinion in closing arguments, in violation of Mr. Phelps's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, §3.
- 13. The prosecutor improperly "testified" in violation of Mr. Phelps's right to a jury trial and his right to a decision based solely on the evidence under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §3, 21, and 22.
- 14. Mr. Phelps was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
- 15. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument.

### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The state and federal constitutions require that criminal trials be administered openly and publicly. Here, the trial judge questioned and excused prospective jurors behind closed doors, and met with counsel in chambers on numerous occasions. Did the trial judge violate the constitutional requirement that criminal trials be open and public by holding closed proceedings without first conducting any portion of a Bone-Club analysis?
- 2. An accused person has the constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial, including jury selection. In this case, the court questioned and excused prospective jurors outside the courtroom in Mr. Phelps's absence. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Phelps's right to be present under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and under Wash. Const. art. I, §22?
- 3. A criminal Information must set forth all of the essential elements of an offense. In count two, the Information failed to allege that Mr. Phelps had sexual contact with a student who was less than 21 years old. Did the Information omit essential elements of the charged crime in violation of Mr. Phelps's right

to adequate notice under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §22?

- 4. When evidence of multiple criminal acts is introduced to support a single conviction, the court must give a unanimity instruction unless the prosecution elects a single act upon which to proceed. Here, the state introduced evidence that Mr. Phelps may have had sexual contact with A.A. on multiple occasions during the charging period, but failed to elect a single act as the basis for the charge in count two. Did the trial court's failure to give a unanimity instruction violate Mr. Phelps's state constitutional right to a unanimous verdict?
- 5. A prosecutor may not express a personal opinion or "testify" to facts not in evidence. Here, the prosecutor "testified" to facts not in evidence, expressed a personal opinion, and made unconstitutional arguments suggesting Mr. Phelps had tailored his defense to the evidence after it was presented. Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned, in violation of Mr. Phelps's state and federal constitutional rights to a jury trial, to due process, to be present during trial, and to confront his accusers?
- 6. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused person the effective assistance of counsel. Here, counsel failed to object to prejudicial misconduct during the prosecuting attorney's closing. Was Mr. Phelps denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Todd Phelps was an assistant coach for the Pe Ell girls fastpitch softball team, and had been for 17 years (as of 2010). RP<sup>1</sup> 39, 298, 433, 1556. The team's season was in the spring, but there was also a select team that played in tournaments over the summer. RP 37-38, 1290.

In the summer of 2010, Mr. Phelps took his family and members of the team to various games and tournaments most weekends. One of the players that often traveled with the family was A.A. RP 37-39, 432, 440, 1290-1297. She was 16 and had a strained relationship with her own parents. RP 38, 41-42, 84-89, 105, 123, 142, 178, 222, 239, 535, 539, 719.

A.A. cut herself, experienced depression, resisted taking her antidepression medication, lied to her parents frequently, contemplated suicide more than once, and generally preferred the company of the Phelps family. RP 39-41, 49-50, 99-101, 110, 113, 161, 226, 363, 379, 446, 517, 719. She often spent the night with Mr. Phelps's daughter Angelina who was 2 years older and tutored A.A. in math. RP 42, 184, 384, 438, 445, 509, 518.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the trial will be RP, as those pages are consecutively numbered. All other citations to the transcripts will include the date.

After that summer season was over, A.A. rarely saw the Phelps family until the start of the school fastpitch season in February of 2011. RP 448. A.A. was continuing to have a difficult relationship with her family, and once the season started, she confided to Mr. Phelps that she had been cutting herself and had considered suicide. In late March, Mr. Phelps and A.A. talked in his truck in the parking lot of a church after watching a game. RP 450, 579, 695, 767-768.

Once Mr. Phelps learned of A.A.'s challenges, he worked to keep A.A. from self-harm and tried to help her improve her self-esteem. A.A. did not readily discuss her issues with adults, with the exception of Mr. Phelps. They developed a relationship that included phone calls and frequent texts, even late into the night. RP 469, 549, 984-1003, 1308. Mr. Phelps contacted several people to express his concerns about A.A., including A.A.'s mother, the head fastpitch coach, the other assistant coach, the pastor at A.A.'s church as well as the pastor's wife, and Mr. Phelps's own wife. RP 45-46, 50, 110-112, 188, 202, 205, 214, 217, 230, 245-6, 1298.

The first week of April, A.A. told her pastor's wife that Mr. Phelps had kissed her. While stories differed on where, how, and when, school authorities were notified of the allegation. RP 119, 144, 153-154, 218-220, 247, 269, 301, 306, 501, 513-516, 540, 1234, 1464.

5

While the school's investigation regarding the kiss was ongoing, Mr. Phelps met with A.A. and her parents. RP 50-51, 302. The two families agreed that Mr. Phelps should not lose his coaching job because he was trying to help A.A. RP 147, 314. The school agreed, and directed Mr. Phelps to have no further contact with A.A. via text or phone except as related to his coaching duties. RP 315-319. Mr. Phelps continued to have frequent contact with A.A. despite this directive, and later resigned his coaching job as a result. RP 64, 260-261, 300, 320-323, 984-1003.

In September of 2011, A.A. moved to her aunt's home near Fife. RP 131, 696. After being there a few weeks, she told her aunt (and then her parents) that she had sex with Mr. Phelps in July. RP 283, 286.

A police investigation led to charges of Rape in the Third Degree (with the allegation that Mr. Phelps held a position of trust and that A.A. was a particularly vulnerable victim) and Sexual Misconduct with a Minor in the Second Degree. CP 42-45 With respect to the second charge, the Information read:

On or about July 27, 2011, in the County of Lewis, State of Washington, the above-named individual engaged in sexual intercourse with another person who was not marred to the defendant to-wit: A.K.A (DOB: 08/01/1994), and A.K.A. (DOB: 08/01/1994) did not consent to the sexual intercourse and such lack of consent was clearly expressed by A.K.A's words or conduct, and/or under circumstances where there was a threat of substantial unlawful harm to property rights of A.K.A. (DOB: 08/01/1994); contrary to the Revised Code of Washington 9A.44.060(1).

CP 43.

A list of prospective jurors was prepared for use during voir dire. Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP. Juror 62 was a handwritten addition to the list. Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP. During jury selection, Juror 62 indicated there was a reason he "should not be allowed to serve" on the case. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 8. He also indicated that he'd read or heard something about the case, and had formed opinions that would affect his ability to be fair and impartial. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 9. He answered yes when asked if he was acquainted with the parties, the attorneys, or the prospective witnesses. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 9.

The prosecutor questioned Juror 62, who revealed that he lived in Pe Ell and knew "almost every person" on the witness list. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 20-21. After a few additional questions, the court interrupted, and spoke directly with Juror 62:

THE COURT: Juror 62 was actually excused from this case earlier and I thought he knew that. You're Mr. Kephart; is that right? JUROR NO. 62: Yes, sir. THE COURT: Yes. JUROR NO. 62: I was. But you also told me I had to come and go through the process, so I'm here. THE COURT: I think we had a miscommunication. But you told me all of those things and I thought... Well, at any rate, [you're] excused today --JUROR NO. 62: Thank you. THE COURT: -- so you can leave. JUROR NO. 62: Appreciate it. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 21-23.

There is no further indication of the record of when (or where) the court had spoken with Juror 62, or whether any other jurors had been excused outside the courtroom prior to the start of voir dire. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 2-128; Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP.

Juror 28 and Juror 48 were questioned in open court during voir dire. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 5, 25, 106; Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP. They were excused at some point; however, the record does not reflect when, where, how, or why this occurred. Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP Nor does the record indicate whether or not either party objected. See RP (4/17/12 voir dire) generally.

Throughout the trial, there were references to proceedings that occurred outside the courtroom. The judge heard motions in limine in his chambers. RP (4/10/12) 9; see also RP (4/13/12) 3. The court also met with counsel in chambers prior to jury selection, and ruled on preliminary matters such as the procedures and time limits for voir dire and the need for alternate jurors. RP 3. Later in the trial, the parties met with the judge in chambers and discussed issues relating to A.A.'s journal. RP 627. Another in camera meeting occurred following the defense case. RP 1427.

At trial, A.A. testified that during the season before Mr. Phelps had resigned, he'd kissed her on three separate occasions, rubbed her upper thigh, grabbed her crotch and butt, and pulled her on top of him three different times. RP 474, 483, 487, 512-513, 519, 526, 528-530, 566. She also stated that during the incident in which she alleged sexual intercourse, she shrugged when asked if they would have sex, and that she told the investigating officer that she never said no. RP 871-879.

The court did not instruct the jury with respect to the multiple possible acts that could comprise sexual misconduct, and the state did not elect one. Court's Instructions to Jury, Supp. CP; RP 1474-1553. In his closing argument, the prosecutor referred to all of the alleged sexual incidents that occurred during the fastpitch season, but did not elect one. RP 1501-1509.

In his closing argument, the defense attorney argued different theories supporting not guilty findings, including that if sexual intercourse had occurred in July, A.A. had consented to it. RP 1571. The prosecutor stated in his rebuttal that he was not aware until he heard it that the defense would claim that A.A. consented. RP 1580. He also

9

characterized the defense strategy as "grasping at straws." RP 1582.

There was no defense objection. RP 1580-1583.

The jury voted to convict on both counts, and answered "yes" to the special verdict. Verdict Form A, Supp. CP; Special Verdict, Supp. CP; Verdict Form B, Supp. CP. After sentencing, Mr. Phelps timely appealed. CP 237.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENT THAT CRIMINAL TRIALS BE OPEN AND PUBLIC.

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional questions are reviewed de novo. McDevitt v. Harborview Med. Ctr., \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d\_\_\_, \_\_\_, 291 P.3d 876 (2012). Whether a trial court procedure violates the right to a public trial is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Njonge, 161 Wn. App. 568, 573, 255 P.3d 753 (2011). Courtroom closure issues may be argued for the first time on review. Id, at 576.

B. The constitution requires that criminal trials be open and public. Criminal cases must be tried openly and publicly. State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 325 (1995); Presley v. Georgia, 558
U.S. 209, \_\_\_\_, 130 S.Ct. 721, 175 L.Ed.2d 675 (2010) (per curiam). Proceedings to which the public trial right attaches may be closed only if the trial court enters appropriate findings following a five-step balancing process. Bone-Club, at 258-259.

The public trial right attaches to a particular proceeding when "experience and logic" show that the core values protected by the right are implicated. State v. Sublett, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_ (2012). A reviewing court first asks "'whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public," and second, "'whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question." Id, at \_\_\_\_\_ (quoting Press– Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1, 7-8, 106 S.Ct. 2735, 92 L.Ed.2d 1 (1986)). If the place and process have historically been open and if public access plays a significant positive role, the public trial right attaches and closure is improper unless justified under Bone-Club.

The Supreme Court has yet to allocate the burden of proof when it comes to showing what occurred during a closed in camera proceeding. However, the court has provided some guidance: where the record shows the likelihood of a closure (in the form of "the plain language of the trial court's ruling impos[ing] a closure"), the burden shifts to the state "to overcome the strong presumption" that a closure actually occurred. State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 516, 122 P.3d 150 (2005).

11

Similarly, the state should bear the burden of establishing that a closed proceeding does not implicate the core values of the open trial right. The prosecutor has an incentive to ensure that guilty verdicts are upheld, and is therefore the natural candidate to bear responsibility for putting on the record anything that transpired during a closed proceeding.<sup>2</sup> Thus, in this case, the burden should rest with the prosecution to establish what occurred outside of the courtroom. See Brightman (addressing state's burden once closure shown).

C. The trial court erroneously closed a portion of jury selection by questioning and dismissing jurors behind closed doors.

The state and federal Supreme Courts have repeatedly affirmed that the public trial right attaches to jury selection. State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310 (2009); State v. Brightman, at 515; Presley, at \_\_\_\_\_. A reviewing court need not apply the "experience and logic" test to jury selection, because it is well-settled that the public trial right applies. State v. Wise, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d. \_\_\_\_, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012); see also In re Morris, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d. \_\_\_\_, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Similarly, if a closed proceeding does implicate the core values of the public trial right, the prosecution should ensure that the court considers the five Bone-Club factors.

Where a portion of jury selection is unnecessarily closed, reversal is automatic. Strode, at 231 (plurality); Presley, at \_\_\_\_\_.

Here, the record suggests that jurors were questioned and excused behind closed doors.<sup>3</sup> RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 2-128; Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP. This became clear during the examination of Juror 62. During voir dire, Juror 62 acknowledged that he'd already been questioned and excused by the judge for reasons related to the case<sup>4</sup> (although a miscommunication resulted in his appearance for voir dire.) RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 21-23. Unlike other jurors who were excused, Juror 62's name did not appear on the printed struck juror list; instead, it was handwritten at the end of the list. This suggests there may have been other similarly situated persons whose names did not even appear on the list. See Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes (4/17/12)), Supp. CP. In addition, Juror 28 and Juror 48 were questioned in open court, but the record does not reflect how or when they were excused. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 5, 25, 106; See Struck Juror List (Clerk's Trial Minutes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Whether this occurred in chambers, in the clerk's office, or in the hallway, the public trial right was violated. See State v. Leyerle, 158 Wn. App. 474, 483-84, 242 P.3d 921 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The colloquy between the judge and Juror 62 made clear that the earlier questioning and decision to excuse the juror related directly to the facts of the case, rather than illness or unrelated hardship. RP (4/17/12 voir dire) 21-23.

(4/17/12)), Supp. CP. This suggests that they, too, were excused behind closed doors, possibly during a recess.

By excusing jurors for case-related reasons outside the public's view, the court violated the constitutional requirement that criminal trials be administered openly. U.S. Const. Amend. VI, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §10 and 22; Bone-Club, supra. Accordingly, Mr. Phelps's convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. State v. Paumier, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d. \_\_\_, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012).

D. The trial court erroneously held additional in camera hearings without undertaking Bone-Club analysis.

As the Supreme Court noted, "[t]the resolution of legal issues is quite often accomplished during an adversarial proceeding..." Sublett, at \_\_\_\_\_. Traditionally, adversarial proceedings have been open to the public. See, e.g., Press-Enterprise at 13 (addressing preliminary hearing in California); United States v. Simone, 14 F.3d 833 (3d Cir. 1994) (granting public access to post-trial examination of juror for misconduct); United States v. Smith, 787 F.2d 111, 114 (3d Cir. 1986) (granting public access to transcripts of sidebar and in camera rulings); United States v. Criden, 675 F.2d 550, 552 (3d Cir. 1982) (granting public access to transcript of

14

pretrial hearing held in camera). By contrast, the public trial right is less likely to attach to ex parte or nonadversarial matters.<sup>5</sup>

In keeping with this history, the experience prong suggests that proceedings must be open and public if they are adversarial in any way. Furthermore, where the record fails to establish what happened during a closed-door session, the hearing should be presumed to be adversarial. See Brightman, supra (allocating the burden on the issue of closure).

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