#### No. 43557-8-II

# THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

## **TODD DALE PHELPS,**

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

## Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

## **

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

Voir dire occurred while Phelps was present. None of the jurors were questioned by the trial court or dismissed while Phelps was absent. Therefore, Phelps right to be present for all critical phases of the trial was not violated and this Court should affirm his convictions.

# C. THE THIRD AMENDED INFORMATION CONTAINS ALL ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME SEXUAL MISCONDUCT WITH A MINOR IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

Phelps argues that the third amended information was deficient because it failed to allege an essential element of the crime, that the victim was not more than 21 years old at the time of the offense. Brief of Appellant 20-21. Under the liberal construction rule the charging document is sufficient because it contains all the essential elements of the crime of Sexual Misconduct With A Minor In The Second Degree.

#### 1. Standard Of Review.

This court reviews challenges regarding the sufficiency of a charging documents de novo. *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 182, 170 P.3d 30 (2007). The correct standard of review is determined by when the sufficiency challenge is made. *City of Bothell v. Kaiser*, 152 Wn. App. 466, 471, 217 P.3d 339 (2009). A charging document challenged for the first time on appeal is

"liberally construed in favor of validity." *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

2. Liberally Construed, The Third Amended Information Contained All The Essential Elements Of Sexual Misconduct With A Minor In The Second Degree.

The State is required by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution to include all essential elements of the crime in its charging document. The court first looks "to the statute because the legislature defines elements of crimes..." *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d at 182. The statutory language contains the elements the prosecution is required to prove to sustain a conviction. *Id.* The essential elements include statutory and nonstatutory elements to inform the defendant of the charge against him or her and to allow the defendant to prepare his or her defense. *State v.* Hopper, 118 Wn.2d 151, 155, 822 P.2d 775 (1992), *citing State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 102.

The liberal construction applies a two part test. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105-06. There must be, "at least some language in the information giving notice of the allegedly missing element(s). *Id* at 106. "[A]nd, if the language is vague, an inquiry may be required into whether there was actual prejudice to the defendant." *Id*. The

reviewing court therefore looks to see if within the charging document the necessary facts appear in any form, or if by fair construction those facts can be found. *Id.* at 105. If the necessary facts are within the information the defendant is still able to prevail if he or she can show the inartful language caused a lack of notice and thereby prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* at 106.

The State charged Phelps in Count II of the third amended information with Sexual Misconduct with a Minor in the Second Degree. RCW 9A.44.096(2); CP 42-45. The statutory elements of Sexual Misconduct with a Minor in the Second Degree require the State to prove that the accused is, a "school employee who has, or knowingly causes another person under the age of eighteen to have, sexual contact with an enrolled student of the school who is at least sixteen years old and not more than twenty-one years old and not married to the employee, if the employee is at least sixty months older than the student." RCW 9A.44.096(1)(b). The charging document in this case states,

On or about and between March 25, 2011 through April 3, 2011, in the County of Lewis, State of Washington, the above-named defendant, (b) being at least sixty (60) months older than the student and being a school employee and not being married to the student and not being in a state registered domestic partnership with the student, did have, or knowingly cause another person under the age of eighteen (18)

to have, sexual contact with a registered student of the school who is at least sixteen (16) years old to-wit: A.K.A. (DOB: 08/01/1994); contrary to the Revised Code of Washington 9A.44.096.

CP 43.

Phelps argues that the essential element of, "not more than twenty-one years old" is missing from the charging document, and therefore the charging document is deficient and the conviction should be reversed and dismissed without prejudice. Brief of Appellant 21. What Phelps overlooks is that this is a post-conviction challenge to the charging document. Phelps did not make this argument in the trial court. See RP. The charging document must be liberally construed in favor of validity. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn,2d at 102-06. The necessary facts appear, or by fair construction can be found, in the third amended information. *Id.* at 105; CP 43. The State concedes that the phrase "not more than twenty-one years old" is missing from Count II. But, AA's actual date of birth, 08/01/1994, is contained within the charging document. CP 43.

From March 25, 2011 to April 3, 2011 AA was 16 years old. CP 43. This information is sufficient to satisfy the requirement that Phelps be on notice that AA could not be more than 21 years old for him to commit the crime of Sexual Misconduct of a Minor in the Second Degree. Further, Phelps was not prejudiced by the State's

inartful wording of the information because AA was not more than 21 years old. The State respectfully requests this Court to affirm the conviction.

## D. PHELPS CANNOT RAISE THE ISSUE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHT TO A UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT BECAUSE THE ERROR IS NOT MANIFEST.

For the first time on appeal, Phelps argues that the trial court violated his right to a unanimous jury verdict by failing to give the unanimity instruction for Count II, Sexual Misconduct with a Minor in the Second Degree. Brief of Appellant 23-24. This alleged error presumes that the State did not elect a single action, making the instruction necessary. The alleged error, while constitutional in magnitude, was not manifest and therefore Phelps may not raise it for the first time on appeal.

### 1. Standard Of Review.

A claim of a manifest constitutional error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Edwards*, 169 Wn. App. 561, 566, 280 P.3d 1152 (2012).

2. Phelps Did Not Request A Unanimity Instruction, Or Raise The Issue Regarding The State's Lack Of Election In The Trial Court, Therefore, Phelps Must Demonstrate That The Error Is A Manifest Constitutional Error.

Phelps did not raise the unanimity issue at trial. See RP. An appellate court generally will not consider an issue that a party raises for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The origins of this rule come from the principle that it is the obligation of trial counsel to seek a remedy for errors as they arise. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98. The exception to this rule is "when the claimed error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." Id., citing RAP 2.5(a). There is a two part test in determining whether the assigned error may be raised for the first time on appeal, "an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." Id. (citations omitted).

The reviewing court analyzes the alleged error and does not assume it is of constitutional magnitude. *Id.* The alleged error must be assessed to make a determination of whether a constitutional interest is implicated. *Id.* If an alleged error is found to be of constitutional magnitude the reviewing court must then determine whether the alleged error is manifest. *Id.* at 99; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. An error is manifest if the appellant can show actual prejudice. *O'Hara* 167 Wn.2d at 99. The appellant must show that

the alleged error had an identifiable and practical consequence in the trial. *Id.* There must be a sufficient record for the reviewing court to determine the merits of the alleged error. *Id.* (citations omitted). No prejudice is shown if the necessary facts to adjudicate the alleged error are not part of the record on appeal. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. Without prejudice the error is not manifest. *Id*.

Phelps did not raise any objections or exceptions to the jury instructions given by the trial court. RP 1466-67. Phelps' trial counsel apparently did not propose any jury instructions of his own. See RP 1466. Therefore, Phelps has the burden of proving the alleged error was of constitutional magnitude and manifest.

## a. The alleged error is of constitutional magnitude.

A criminal defendant has the right to have a jury unanimously agree on a verdict finding him or her guilty. *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 783, 154 P.3d 873 (2007) (citations omitted). This right is guaranteed by the Washington State Constitution. Const. art. I, § 21. If the State presents evidence of multiple distinct acts, any of which could form the basis for the charge, the State must elect which acts it is relying upon for the conviction or the trial court must give a unanimity instruction. *State v. Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d 509, 511, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). The

unanimity instruction ensures the jury is unanimous in the act it finds the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt to convict the defendant. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 511-12. Therefore, the alleged error, a non-unanimous verdict, is of constitutional magnitude. Phelps still must show that the error was manifest. *State v. Knutz*, 161 Wn. App. 395, 406-07, 253 P.3d 437.

## b. The alleged error is not manifest because no error occurred and therefore, Phelps was not prejudiced.

Phelps cannot meet the necessary burden of showing his alleged error, a non-unanimous verdict, actually prejudiced him. An error is manifest if a defendant can show actual prejudice. *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). Actual prejudice requires a defendant to make a "plausible showing... that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." *O'Hara*,167 Wn.2d at 99 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Phelps argues to this Court that multiple acts of conduct could have been used by the jurors when they decided Phelps was guilty of Count II, Sexual Misconduct with a Minor in the Second Degree. Brief of Appellant 23-24. Phelps lists a number of actions that could have been considered sexual misconduct that happened

a number of different times and points out that the court did not give a unanimity instruction and argues that the State did not identify a particular act for the basis of Count II. Brief of Appellant 23-24. Phelps ignores the charging document and more specifically the jury instructions which give a small window of time that the Sexual Misconduct with a Minor offense occurred. It is clear the Sexual Misconduct of a Minor that was the basis for Count II occurred on approximately April 2, 2011. RP 481-88, 1492, 1501, 1590-91; CP 43, 152. There was no need for a unanimity instruction as the prosecutor clearly elected, and argued, that the Sexual Misconduct with a Minor occurred on April 2, 2011. RP 1492, 1501-02, 1590-91.

There was testimony of multiple acts which could have constituted sexual misconduct, the State does not deny that. The State charging language stated, on or about or between March 26, 2011 and April 2, 2011. CP 43. There was testimony from AA that the first time she showed Phelps her cuts, around March 26, 2011, he pulled her over on top of him and hugged her. RP 470-74. AA described the hug as a standing up together hug and nothing happened. RP 474-75. This interaction does not meet the definition of sexual contact, an essential element of Sexual Misconduct with a

Minor in the Second Degree. CP 152, 153. Sexual contact is defined as.

[A]ny touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desires of either party. Contact is "intimate" if the conduct is of such a nature that a person of common intelligence could fairly be expected to know, that under the circumstances, the parts touched were intimate and the therefore the touching improper.

CP 153, citing WPIC 45.07; Matter of Welfare of Adams, 24 Wn. App. 517, 519-20, 601 P.2d 995 (1979).

In this case the act alleged to be sexual misconduct occurred on April 2, 2011. RP 481-88.

AA described, in vivid detail, the sexual contact that occurred between Phelps and AA on April 2, 2011. RP 481-490. The incident started with Phelps telling AA that he needed to see her cuts and taking her into his bedroom. RP 481-82. AA showed the cuts and Phelps hugged her, pulling AA on top of him. RP 483-84. Phelps kissed AA, starting with a peck on the lips and progressing to putting his tongue into her mouth. RP 487-88. The incident continued to escalate and Phelps, who was clothed, began rubbing his erect penis into AA's vagina and telling her sex was no big deal, it was like what they were doing, but without clothes and then he began thrusting. RP 489-90.

The State acknowledges there was testimony about later incidents, after April 2, 2011, that could be considered sexual misconduct, such as the kiss on the lips on April 7, 2011 or the incidents that occurred on the bus. RP 512, 525-30, 563-66. But these incidents are not the sexual misconduct the State charged in its information, including in the jury instructions, and argued during its closing. RP 1492, 1501-02, 1590-91; CP 43, 152.

The deputy prosecutor mentioned sexual misconduct five times during his closing argument. RP 1486, 1489, 1492, 1501, 1553. One time was in regards to the crime charged. RP 1486. The second time was in regards to the jury instruction listing the elements the State must prove to convict Phelps of sexual misconduct. RP 1489. The third time the deputy prosecutor was discussing that sexual contact applies to the sexual misconduct charge. RP 1492. The fourth time, the deputy prosecutor stated:

April 2nd, sexual misconduct. [AA] goes to Todd's house because he wants, again, to see her cuts. No one else is home when [AA] gets there if you recall her testimony...And you heard her testimony that he had an erection, and he was poking her in her private spot. She could feel it. And of course, they are kissing.

RP 1501. Finally, the fifth time the deputy prosecutor used the words, "sexual misconduct" was when he asked the jury to convict

Phelps of Sexual Misconduct with a Minor in the Second Degree. RP 1553.

There was no error in this case. There was no need for a unanimity instruction. The State elected the sexual misconduct that occurred on April 2, 2011 as the conduct necessary to convict Phelps of Count II. Phelps has not shown the error was manifest and he, therefore, cannot raise the issue for the first time on appeal. This Court should decline to review this issue and affirm Phelps' conviction for Sexual Misconduct with a Minor.

## c. If it was error to fail to give a unanimity instruction it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

While not conceding any error occurred, arguendo, if it was error to not include a unanimity instruction, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. To be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt the State must show, "no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any of the incidents alleged." *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 512. The only other incident, other than the two described above that could even remotely be considered "On or about March 26, 2011 and April 2, 2011," was the kiss on the lips Phelps gave AA on April 7, 2011 when she spent the night at the Phelpses' house. RP 512-15. Angelina witnessed that kiss, even though she

denied it while testifying. RP 514, 1234. Angelina was so bothered by seeing her father kiss AA that she told her friend Haley Pace and Haley's mom, Kristin Pace, about the incident. RP 1458, 1464.

No rational juror would have had a reasonable doubt that Phelps had sexual contact with AA on those two occasions and therefore, committed the crime of Sexual Misconduct in the Second Degree. Any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and this Court should affirm Count II.

### E. THE DEPUTY PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT DURING HIS CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Phelps argues the deputy prosecutor committed misconduct by vouching for evidence and giving his personal opinion of Phelps' guilt. Brief of Appellant 28. Phelps takes the arguments made in the deputy prosecutor's rebuttal closing out of context and does not even acknowledge that this is the deputy prosecutor's rebuttal to Phelps' trial counsel's closing argument.

The deputy prosecutor did not commit misconduct because his statements regarding the law in this case were correct. Further, if the deputy prosecutor's comments were improper Phelps has not sufficiently established that the remarks prejudiced his case.

### 1. Standard Of Review.

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